STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Apr 23 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTHONY KWAME MAYS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001918

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred by admitting a photographic lineup and subsequent identification of Appellant, where the witness was hospitalized for emergency surgery, where the police officer who interviewed the witness failed to determine the witness's mental and physical health following the shooting and surgery, where the witness expressed some uncertainty regarding the identification, and where the lineup was unduly suggestive in that it only depicted one heavysset individual—Appellant—such that the identification was unreliable, suggestive, and inadmissible?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 26, 2017, Appellant was indicted by a Greenville County grand jury for murder, attempted murder, assault and battery by a mob in the first degree, and assault and battery by a mob in the second degree. R. 821. Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin on November 4, 2019. Randall Chambers represented Appellant; Allen O. Fretwell and Jonathan Gregory appeared on behalf of the state. Susannah Ross represented Appellant's co-defendant, Shyheem Rice. The state proceeded on only the murder and attempted murder charges. R. 23, ll. 4 – 22. Following a five-day trial, Appellant was found guilty on the murder and attempted murder charges. Judge Verdin sentenced Appellant to forty years on the murder charge and thirty years on the attempted murder charge. R. 820, ll. 7 – 8.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[W]hether an eyewitness identification is sufficiently reliable is a mixed question of law and fact.” State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000) (finding show-up identification unreliable as a matter of law); see also State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81-82, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526-27 (2004) (citing Moore and holding that photographic line-up procedure was “patently suggestive”). “Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is at the trial judge’s discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such, or the commission of prejudicial legal error.” Moore at 288, 540 S.E.2d at 448. “In reviewing mixed questions of law and fact, where the evidence supports but one reasonable inference, the question becomes a matter of law for the court.” Id. Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by admitting a photographic lineup and subsequent identification of Appellant, where the witness was hospitalized for emergency surgery, where the police officer who interviewed the witness failed to determine the witness’s mental and physical health following the shooting and surgery, where the witness expressed some uncertainty regarding the identification, and where the lineup was unduly suggestive in that it only depicted one heavysset individual—Appellant—such that the identification was unreliable, suggestive, and inadmissible.

Relevant facts

The trial in this matter followed a shooting that occurred in Greenville on April 2, 2017 wherein one individual died and another was hospitalized. One witness described the scene leading up to the altercation as follows: Appellant and two other males approached a car with four people in it. R. 210, l. 1 – 213, l. 10. Two of the passengers got out of the car and ran. Id. Shots were fired. Id.; R. 252, ll. 9 – 25; R. 300, ll. 3 – 12.

One of the individuals who was shot, Jaikario Poole, was treated at Greenville Hospital by Dr. Brian Dach on April 2, 2017. R. 262, l. 9 – 266, l. 2. Poole arrived at the hospital at 2:17 p.m. and was sent to the OR at 2:28 p.m. R. 270, ll. 2 – 15. Dr. Dach testified that Poole suffered an injury to his liver as well as his colon. R. 271, l. 2 – 272, l. 23. Dr. Dach characterized the nature of Poole’s injuries as “quite severe” and “[a]bsolutely life-threatening.” R. 274, ll. 19 – 23. The other individual who was shot was Azaveon Cook. R. 414, l. 19 – 415, l. 11. Cook suffered two gunshot wounds which tragically resulted in his death. R. 416, ll. 2 – 5; R. 423, ll. 9 – 16.

Prior to opening statements, the trial court heard testimony from multiple witnesses regarding photographic lineups as well as statements made by Appellant and his co-defendant. The first witness was Darrell Kicklighter, an officer in Greenville County. R. 26, l. 25 – 27, l. 5. On April 2, 2017, he showed a collection of six photographs to a man named Marcus Foster; Foster identified Appellant as “the individual involved in this particular homicide.” R. 27, l. 6 – 30, l. 9. During the pre-trial hearing, Kicklighter identified Appellant as the person who Foster selected from the photo lineup. Id. Foster, in turn, identified Appellant at trial. R. 306, l. 23 – 307, l. 13.

Randall Evett, another officer with the Greenville County Sheriff’s Officer, testified pre-trial that he went to the hospital the day after the shooting and spoke with Jaikario Poole, one of the individuals who was shot. R. 53, l. 21 – 57, l. 5. Poole was also shown a six-photo lineup which was marked as State’s Exhibit 92. Id.; R. 825. Poole indicated that he was “80 percent” sure that Photo Number 2 was the shooter. Id.; R. 826. Evett then identified Appellant as the individual who was shown in Photo Number 2. R. 56, l. 19 – 57, l. 5.

On cross-examination, Evett noted that Poole was being treated at the hospital for a gunshot wound to the stomach. R. 65, ll. 7 – 13. Evett was unaware that Poole had emergency surgery the previous day. R. 65, ll. 14 – 24; R. 78, ll. 10 – 24. Prior to questioning Poole, Evett did not check with any of the medical staff on hand to determine Poole’s well-being or ability to answer questions. R. 65, ll. 17 – 24. Further, Evett was unaware if Poole had been administered any medication. R. 66, ll. 6 – 10.

Poole’s testimony followed Evett’s. He recalled being interviewed at the hospital on April 3, 2017. R. 72, l. 23 – 73, l. 1. Following his selection, he filled out an Affidavit of Photographic Identification which was marked as State’s Exhibit 93. R. 75, l. 25 – 76, l. 5.

Poole identified Appellant during the pre-trial hearing as well. R. 76, l. 6 – 77, l. 8. Both State’s Exhibit 92 and 93 were admitted, subject to Appellant’s previous objection, during Poole’s testimony at trial. R. 509, ll. 9 – 22; R. 511, ll. 10 – 20. Poole identified Appellant in the jury’s presence. R. 511, l. 22 – 512, l. 13. During Evett’s trial testimony, counsel for Appellant again preserved his objection. R. 623, ll. 15 – 23.

At the conclusion of the Neil v. Biggers hearing, counsel for Appellant moved to suppress Poole’s identification of Appellant. R. 102, l. 4 – 103, l. 12. Counsel acquiesced to the introduction of Foster’s identification but objected to Poole’s. Regarding the lineup, counsel noted that Appellant was “the most heavyset person there” such that he stood out:

[J]ust based on the faces that we can see there, the most heavyset person there, he stands out. That’s significant because there are witnesses that indicated that they saw a heavyset person. One person he described as far walked to the car. He’s clearly the most heavyset person there. So in my mind, and I believe objectively speaking, that is unnecessarily suggestive.

R. 103, ll. 17 – 24. Regarding the second prong of Biggers, counsel articulated that there was a substantial likelihood of misidentification based on the witness’s condition and uncertainty. R. 102, l. 25 – 103, l. 12.

The trial judge denied the motion and allowed the identification to be presented to the jury. R. 103, l. 13 – 104, l. 19. As mentioned, Appellant renewed his motion throughout trial.

Discussion

“A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure arranged by police which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification.” State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 81, 600 S.E.2d 523, 526 (2004). “An in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.” Id.

In Neil v. Biggers, the United States Supreme Court set forth a two-pronged inquiry to determine whether due process requires suppression of an eyewitness identification. Due process requires courts to assess, on a case-by-case basis, whether the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive police procedures, and if so, whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. 409 U.S. 188, 198, 93 S.Ct. 375, 34 L.Ed.2d 401 (1972). Under the totality of the circumstances, the factors to be considered in assessing the reliability of an otherwise unduly suggestive identification procedure are: (1) the witness's opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime, (2) the witness's degree of attention, (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the perpetrator, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 53 L.Ed.2d 140 (1977) (citing Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199–200, 93 S.Ct. 375).

South Carolina courts have held this determination should be made during an *in camera* hearing, outside of the presence of the jury. See State v. Ramsey, 345 S.C. 607, 613, 550 S.E.2d 294, 297 (2001) (holding that generally, a trial court must hold an *in camera* hearing when the State offers a witness whose testimony identifies the defendant as a person who committed the crime and the defendant challenges the in-court identification as being tainted by a previous, illegal identification or confrontation); State v. Simmons, 308 S.C. 80, 417 S.E.2d 92 (1992) (same); see also Rule 104(c), SCRE (providing that “[h]earings on the admissibility of ... pretrial identifications of an accused shall in all cases be conducted out of the hearing of the jury”). “The purpose of the *in camera* hearing is to determine whether the in-court identification

was of independent origin or was the tainted product of the circumstances surrounding the prior, out-of-court identification.” Ramsey, 345 S.C. at 613, 550 S.E.2d at 297.

Because Appellant was the only husky individual depicted in the lineup shown to Poole, the lineup was unduly and improperly suggestive. The photographic lineup, created by law enforcement, shows only one heavysset individual. R. 825. Numerous witnesses throughout trial described the shooter as some variation of heavy. R. 212, ll. 4 – 9; R. 496, ll. 7 – 11; R. 673, ll. 8 – 21. Accordingly, Poole, who admitted he was not entirely sure that the individual whose photograph he circled was the shooter, was aided by the suggestive lineup. Poole’s reluctance to describe his certainty as “100%” was probative of both the suggestive nature as well as the reliability of his out-of-court identification.

Regarding the reliability prong, Poole’s hospitalization and recent life-saving surgery likely prevented his identification from being reliable enough to be admissible. Although unknown to the officer who conducted the photographic lineup at the time, Poole was “taken straight to the operating room after a brief examination and X-rays in the emergency room.” R. 269, ll. 7 – 14. Poole spent approximately three hours in surgery. R. 270, l. 2 – 271, l. 1. While in the operating room, Poole was given general anesthesia. R. 271, ll. 2 – 13. Exploratory surgery occurred, and part of his abdomen was removed. R. 271, l. 2 – 274, l. 18. Dr. Dach described Poole’s injuries as severe and characterized them as life-threatening. R. 274, ll. 19 – 23. While Dr. Dach could not recall with particularity the pain medication he prescribed Poole, he suggested that it “would have been something pretty strong.” R. 278, ll. 2 – 19.

Poole was hospitalized for eight days. R. 504, ll. 1 – 10. He was interviewed on his second day there, one day after emergency life-saving surgery. His injuries were severe, and he was only able to say with eighty percent certainty that the person he identified was Appellant.

Thus, the certainty of his identification was adversely impacted. His out-of-court identification was unreliable and based on an unduly suggestive lineup. Further, it tainted his in-court identification. State's Exhibit 92 and 93 should have been suppressed, and Poole should not have been allowed to identify Appellant at trial.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse his conviction and remand for a new trial.