**RECEIVED**

**Mar 18 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001918

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT

v.

ANTHONY KWAME MAYS, .....APPELLANT.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Caroline Scrantom  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 101357

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211  
(803) 734-6305

W. Walter Wilkins, III  
Solicitor, 13th Judicial Circuit

305 E. North St.

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court did not err in admitting Poole’s identification of Appellant because the Investigator did not employ a suggestive procedure when he presented Poole with a six-pack photographic line-up, because Poole was lucid and able to describe the certainty of his identification such that the identification was not the product of a substantial likelihood of misidentification, and because Poole’s identification was cumulative to other identification testimony.**

Appellant challenges the identification that one victim, Jaikario Poole, made to Greenville County Investigator Randall Evett while recovering in the hospital. Pre-trial, and pursuant to *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375 (1972), the court received testimony from Investigator Evett and Jaikario Poole. (Tr. p. 69, lines 1-8).

Investigator Evett served as the lead investigator to this case. (Tr. p. 97, lines 1-5). He testified that he and another Detective visited Poole in the hospital on the day after the shooting to present him with a photographic lineup. (Tr. p. 97, lines 6-20). One or two of Poole’s family

members were present in his hospital room at the time. (Tr. p. 97, lines 21-24). Evett knew Poole had been treated for a gunshot wound to the stomach. (Tr. p. 108, lines 7-13). Poole “was conscious and alert” when Evett spoke with him. (Tr. p. 108, lines 15-16). Evett spoke with Poole’s mother but did not speak with any of his treating physicians. (Tr. p. 108, lines 17-24). Evett was not aware of what, if any, medication Poole was taking at the time. (Tr. p. 109, lines 1-10). Evett had a lucid discussion with Poole. (Tr. p. 109, lines 1-20).

Evett presented Poole with a six-person photographic lineup of persons of similar description and informed Poole the suspected shooter may or may not be included. (Tr. p. 98, lines 3-17; State’s Ex. 92 and 93). He told the victim to take his time reviewing the photos and did not suggest that Poole should focus on any particular photo. (Tr. p. 98, lines 18-20). Poole informed Evett he was able to get a good look at the shooter during the incident. (Tr. p. 98, lines 21-22). Poole reviewed the lineup and selected a suspect, stating he was 80% sure that the shooter was depicted in photo number two. (Tr. p. 98, line 23 – p. 99, line 10). Poole also told the Investigator that if the dreadlocks in photo number two were a little longer, he would be positive it was the shooter. (Tr. p. 99, lines 4-5). The suspect depicted in Photo number two was Appellant Mays. (Tr. p. 99, line 19 – p. 100, line 5).

Poole testified that he was with his mother and grandmother at the hospital when Investigator Evett presented him with the photo lineup. (Tr. p. 115, line 22 – p. 116, line 10). Poole testified he was receiving medication through an IV at the time. (Tr. p. 122, lines 6-8). Poole testified he received all of the photographs on one piece of paper, the photos were of similar description, nobody indicated which photo he should choose, and Evett told him to “take as much time as needed” to review the pictures. (Tr. p. 116, line 13 – p. 117, line 8).

Poole testified he told Evett that he was “pretty sure” that photograph number two in the

lineup depicted the shooter. (Tr. p. 117, line 16 – p. 118, line 3). Poole indicated his selection by circling and initialing photo two. (Tr. p. 118, lines 2-24; State’s Ex. 92). Poole also completed an affidavit stating he was “80% sure he shot at us at Boulder Creek Apts.” (State’s Ex. 93). Poole testified that he was 80% sure rather than 100% sure because the person in the photograph had shorter dreadlocks than the shooter. (Tr. p. 116, lines 20-22; Tr. p. 117, lines 21-23; Tr. p. 122, lines 9-17). Poole testified he felt that he got a good look at the shooter at the time of the incident because the shooter was right at his car window at one point. (Tr. p. 117, lines 9-15). Poole then made an in-court identification of Appellant Mays as the shooter. (Tr. p. 119, line 6 – p. 120, line 8).

The trial court admitted Poole’s identification, reasoning:

. . . I do find that the process was not unduly suggestive.

As I look at this, while I might think that Person Number 2 looks a little heavier set, I might think that about Number 6, and I might think that about Number 4 as well. And the witness testified they had a good opportunity to see the person who shot him, and that that person was very close to him, I believe right outside the window. And when he identified the person, he said, you know, something very changeable is that he said he’s 80 percent sure and that he would be sure if the person’s hair was a little longer. And certainly, that’s something that can be changed and manipulated and altered, you know, just over time. And he just says if the hair was different or longer than he would be completely sure.

And it was close in time between the crime itself and from the time that he picked this witness out. And, . . . Mr. Poole seems to have a good recollection of that day. He seems to – seemed to have understood what was going on very well. Of course, I know he was in a stressful situation and in a difficult situation, but the officer testified he seemed lucid and clearheaded, and therefore, I’m going to allow the identification in this case as least to be presented to the jury.

(Tr. p. 146, line 13 – p. 147, line 14).<sup>2</sup>

The United States Supreme Court has developed a two-prong inquiry to determine the admissibility of an out-of-court identification. *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375,

---

<sup>2</sup> Objection renewed at Tr. p. 576, lines 14-22; Tr. p. 578, lines 15-2; and Tr. p. 704, lines 21-25.

(1972). “Due process requires courts to assess, on a case-by-case basis, whether the identification resulted from unnecessary and unduly suggestive police procedures, and if so, whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed.” *State v. Liverman*, 398 S.C. at 138, 727 S.E.2d at 426 (citing *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 198, 93 S.Ct. at 382). Prior to admitting an eyewitness identification, the trial court should conduct an *in camera* hearing “to determine whether the in-court identification was of independent origin or was the tainted product of the circumstances surrounding the prior, out-of-court identification.” *State v. Ramsey*, 345 S.C. 607, 613, 550 S.E.2d 294, 297 (2001); Rule 104(c), SCRE.

The trial court did not err in admitting Poole’s identification. The record fails to support any inference that Investigator Evett utilized a suggestive line-up procedure. *State v. Moore*, 343 S.C. at 288, 540 S.E.2d at 448 (“an eyewitness identification which is unreliable because of suggestive line-up procedures is constitutionally inadmissible as a matter of law”). Further, the record supports the trial court’s evaluation of the reliability of Poole’s identification. *State v. Brown*, 356 S.C. 496, 503, 589 S.E.2d 781, 785 (Ct. App. 2003) (“Reliability is the linchpin in determining the admissibility of identification testimony.”).

***Biggers* Prong One: The lineup procedure was not suggestive.**

Referring to the first prong of the *Biggers* test, Appellant contends that Investigator Evett employed a suggestive lineup procedure on the basis that Mays appears more heavyset than the other five persons included in the six-pack. (Br. of App. at 8). Appellant’s counsel posited that Mays was “the most heavyset person there” in the lineup, and that he stood out in a significant manner because witnesses indicated that they saw a heavyset person at the scene. (Tr. p. 145, lines 14-24). However, during the *Biggers* hearing, Investigator Evett testified he did not “know

how you could tell he was heavier by not seeing below the neckline.” (Tr. p. 111, lines 2-3; *see* State’s Ex. 92). Evett agreed in a limited fashion that, “if you draw that [conclusion] from the base of his facial [appear]ance being thicker, then yes.” But Evett was quick to qualify that “there’s nothing below the waist [or jawline]” in the photographs. (Tr. p. 110, line 25 – p. 111, line 8). Moreover, Poole qualified the strength of his identification on the basis of the length of the braids in the suspect’s hair, not on the basis of weight or build. (Tr. p. 116, lines 20-22; Tr. p. 117, lines 21-23; Tr. p. 122, lines 9-17).

A photo line-up is not unduly suggestive so long as the defendant “does not stand out in comparison with the other individuals in the line-up.” *State v. Turner*, 373 S.C. 121, 127-28, 644 S.E.2d 693, 697 (2007) (line-up with varying background colors not unduly suggestive where all six photos depict men with facial hair and a “built” frame, “as described by the victim”); *State v. Washington*, 323 S.C. 106, 112, 473 S.E.2d 479, 482 (Ct. App. 1996) (upholding identification based on totality of circumstances, rejecting defendant’s claim that he was the only person in the line-up with a medium length afro-style haircut and a dark background). Slight variations among the persons included in the line-up are permissible. *Id.* “Because human beings do not look exactly alike, differences are inevitable.” *People v. Carpenter*, 15 Cal. 4th 312, 367, 935 P.2d 708, 737 (Cal. 1997) (affirming admissibility of identification of defendant “in a six-man physical lineup”), *abrogated on other grounds by People v. Diaz*, 60 Cal. 4th 1176, 345 P.3d 62 (Cal. 2015).

Where, as here, “the appearance of the other subjects in the line-up [i]s not completely inconsistent” with the descriptions offered by the victim, the line-up is not suggestive and the identification should be upheld. *Bendolph v. State*, 997 So.2d 997 So.2d 1049, 1055 (Ala. Crim. App. 2007) (finding subjects in photo line-up were not inconsistent with victim’s describing the

perpetrator as “thick,” rejecting defendant’s contention that the line-up was disparate in height and weight). The six-pack line-up Investigator Evett presented to Poole depicts no more than slight variations among individuals. (State’s Ex. 92). Each person pictured has an oval-shaped face. Each person pictured has facial hair comparable in both amount and formation. Each person pictured has braided hair of short-to-medium length. Each person pictured has a comparable skin tone, with variations in skin tone appearing to the naked eye to have been affected by the lighting in which the photographs were taken. These slight variations do not render the six-pack line-up unduly suggestive.<sup>3</sup> *State v. Simmons*, 384 S.C. 145, 168, 682 S.E.2d 19, 31 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Despite Simmons’s contention that his ears were smaller than those of the other individuals in the line-up, his photograph does not stand out in such a way as to render the line-up unduly suggestive.”).

Each person in the six-pack also appears of comparable build: the photographs are closely cropped so that each person pictured has nearly the same degree of slope from his neck to his shoulders. (State’s Ex. 92). Any discernible variation in the width of Appellant’s face from the others can also be attributed to his photograph being more closely cropped on the left-hand side than some of the others. As Investigator Evett noted in his *Biggers* testimony, it would be difficult to conclude that one person was heavysset without the ability to view the person below his jawline. (Tr. p. 110, line 25 – p. 111, line 8). Thus, as the trial court assessed, “while I might think that Person Number 2 looks a little heavier set, I might think that about Number 6, and I might think that about Number 4 as well.” (Tr. p. 146, lines 17-20). Though Appellant argues he

---

<sup>3</sup> Though not addressed by Appellant, the manner in which Investigator Evett presented the line-up to Poole was not unduly suggestive. Evett did not prompt Poole to focus on any one photograph in the six-pack, and informed him the shooter may or may not be included in the six-pack. (Tr. p. 98, lines 16-20; Tr. p. 117, lines 6-8). Both Evett and Poole testified that Poole was instructed to take as much time as needed. (Tr. p. 98, lines 3-18; Tr. p. 117, line 3-5).

is the sole heavyset person in the six-pack, “most of the subjects are not substantially smaller than” he, and the line-up is not unduly suggestive. *Bendolph v. State*, 997 So.2d at 1055 (affirming admissibility of eyewitness identification “[a]lthough two of the subjects appear to be somewhat thinner than the appellant”); *Turbeville v. State*, 268 Ga. App. 88, 92, 601 S.E.2d 461, 466 (Ga. Ct. App. 2004) (line-up not unduly suggestive where “all of the men pictured were approximately the same age [and] that they all had short hair and similar facial hair to that of the defendant,” and rejecting defendant’s contention that two persons pictured did not appear heavyset).

***Biggers* Prong Two: The witness identification was not tainted by a substantial likelihood of misidentification.**

As to the second prong of *Biggers*, Appellant argued before the trial court that there existed “a substantial likelihood of misidentification because the witness himself said that he was pretty sure,” rather than entirely sure, that number two was the shooter. (Tr. p. 146, lines 4-12). On appeal, Appellant furthers that “Poole’s hospitalization and recent life-saving surgery likely prevented his identification from being reliable enough to be admissible.” (Br. of App. at 8). Appellant’s argument circumvents the record laid before the trial court and ignores the factors the court examines when ruling upon the second prong of the *Biggers* test.

“Only if the procedure was suggestive need the court consider the second question—whether there was a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.” *State v. Moore*, 343 S.C. at 287, 540 S.E.2d at 447-48 (internal quotation omitted). Even assuming suggestiveness in this case, the totality of the circumstances pertaining to Poole’s eyewitness identification are not accompanied by any such likelihood. *Id.* The court should consider “the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness’ degree of attention, the accuracy of his prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated at the

confrontation, and the time between the crime and the confrontation.” *Manson v. Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. 98, 114, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 2253 (1977). In ruling on Appellant’s motion, the trial court considered the percentage of certainty with which Poole made the identification, Poole’s ability to view the perpetrator during the incident, and the passage of time between the crime and the identification. (Tr. p. 146, line 20 – p. 147, line 6). The court also addressed Poole’s ability to recollect the identification procedure as well as his capacity to engage with Investigator Evett. (Tr. p. 147, lines 6-14). The record supports these findings.

The *Biggers* hearing testimony establishes that Poole selected Appellant from the six-pack and certified he was “80% sure he” was the shooter. (State’s Ex. 93). Poole testified that the shooter stood next to his car window and Poole was able to get a good look at him during the incident. (Tr. p. 117, lines 12-14). The shooting incident was a stressful event demanding all of Poole’s attention.<sup>4</sup> *See State v. Moore*, 343 S.C. at 290 & n.6, 540 S.E.2d at 449 & n.6 (finding witness’ “attention was likely not as acute as it might have been had she been the victim of a crime” because “the attention of a mere passerby is likely to be less acute than that of a victim”). Poole testified that he was “pretty sure” that he had identified Appellant from the line-up, and that he was not completely and absolutely certain only for the precise reason that the person in the photograph had hair that was a little shorter than the shooter’s. (Tr. p. 117, line 19-23; Tr. p. 122, lines 9-17). Poole also testified the person he selected from the six-pack “looks exactly the same” as the shooter. (Tr. p. 118, lines 4-6). This identification occurred the day after the shooting. (Tr. p. 121, lines 7-9).

As to his medical condition at the time he made this selection, Poole testified he was

---

<sup>4</sup> Before the jury, Poole testified he “was terrified at the time.” (Tr. p. 565, line 1). The incident began when Appellant tapped on Poole’s car window with a gun. (Tr. p. 564, lines 2-9). It immediately escalated even after Poole told Appellant he was not affiliated with the “Woo Gang.” (Tr. p. 565, lines 1-24).

under general anesthesia for surgery the day prior. (Tr. p. 121, lines 7-21). He testified he had an IV and was receiving pain medication at the time that Investigator Evett visited. (Tr. p. 121, line 22 – p. 122, line 8). However, Poole delivered his recollection of his interactions with Evett in the same manner that Evett did. (Tr. p. 97, line 6 – p. 99, line 18; Tr. p. 111, line 9 – p. 112, line 2; Tr. p. 115, line 23 – p. 118, line 24). Further, Evett testified Poole “was conscious and alert” when they spoke, and that Poole “was lucid and talking” during the interview process.<sup>5</sup> (Tr. p. 108, line 7 – p. 109, line 20).

No, Poole did not select Appellant from the photo line-up with 100% certainty. “However, certainty is not required.” *State v. Washington*, 323 S.C. at 111, 473 S.E.2d at 481 (identification made with 99% certainty admissible). An eyewitness identification is still admissible even when the witness qualifies the person identified only “best resembles” the perpetrator. *Id.* at 112, 473 S.C.2d at 482 (relying upon *United States v. Peebles*, 748 F.2d 934 (4th Cir. 1984) (per curiam); *Patler v. Slayton*, 503 F.2d 472 (4th Cir. 1974)). Provided that the victim had ample opportunity to view the assailant’s full face at time of crime and provided a description and an accurate photo identification from a line-up shortly thereafter, a “high degree of certainty” is all that is required for the identification’s admissibility.<sup>6</sup> *State v. Turner*, 373 S.C. at 128, 644 S.E.2d at 697.

---

<sup>5</sup> Before the jury, the State elicited testimony from Poole’s treating surgeon that it would not be unusual for Poole to be able to engage in a lucid question-and-answer session that day. (Tr. p. 333, lines 15-22). The surgeon testified that the effects of general anesthesia would not be felt the day after surgery. (Tr. p. 334, lines 1-5).

<sup>6</sup> Our appellate courts have consistently upheld the admission of eyewitness identifications made within a short period of time after the crime and after the identifier had a suitable opportunity to view the perpetrator during the crime. *E.g.*, *State v. Gambrell*, 274 S.C. 587, 590, 266 S.E.2d 78, 81 (1980) (“ . . . we find nothing to justify the conclusion there was a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. The victim had the opportunity to observe her assailant for fifteen to twenty minutes in a well-lit room”); *State v. Collier*, 421 S.C. 426, 441, 807 S.E.2d 206, 214

In *Turner*, the high degree of certainty was apparent from the speed at which the victim selected the defendant's photograph from the line-up. *Id.* Poole selected Appellant from the six-pack with a high degree of certainty as well. Though he was admitted to the hospital at the time and had undergone surgery the day before, Poole clearly and lucidly articulated to Investigator Evett that he was 80% certain that the shooter appeared as person number two in the six-pack lineup. Poole at that time specifically articulated that the length of that person's hair did not match the length of the braids he observed during the assault and shooting, and testified at the *Biggers* hearing that the person he selected otherwise "looks exactly the same" as the shooter. (Tr. p. 117, line 21 – p. 118, line 25). As the trial court noted, the length of one's hair is easily subject to alteration. (Tr. p. 146, line 23 – p. 147, line 4). Importantly, Poole had a clear opportunity to view the shooter at the time of the incident and did not couch his degree of certainty on any unalterable biological factor, such as the shape of the shooter's face or the color of his eyes. Accordingly, Poole's identification does not suffer from a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification and was properly admitted by the trial court.

**Harmless Error Analysis: The witness identification was cumulative to that of another witness.**

"[U]nder certain circumstances, if the identification is corroborated by either circumstantial or direct evidence, then the harmless error rule might be applicable." *State v. Simmons*, 308 S.C. 80, 83, 417 S.E.2d 92, 94 (1992). Harmless error also applies when "the challenged identification evidence was cumulative to other properly admitted evidence." *State v.*

---

(Ct. App. 2017) (the witness had "viewed the suspect face-to-face and in good lighting for ten to fifteen seconds" without distraction at the time of the incident, described the perpetrator shortly thereafter in a manner resembling the photo selected from the line-up); *State v. Brown*, 365 S.C. at 505-06, 589 S.E.2d at 785-86 (eyewitness identification admissible even though it was made about three car lengths away from the incident, where nothing blocked the view, the lighting was sufficient, the witness was "100 percent focused," had a good, but brief, opportunity to view the perpetrator, and made the identification shortly thereafter).

*Hardin*, 425 S.C. 1, 15, 819 S.E.2d 177, 185 (2018). “A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case.” *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 448-49, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011). In conducting a harmless error analysis, the court should consider the particular facts of the case and various other factors: “the importance of the witness’ testimony in the prosecution’s case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution’s case.” *State v. Liverman*, 398 S.C. at 141, 727 S.E.2d at 427 (quoting *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1432 (1986)). Only an error which could have reasonably affected the outcome of the trial requires reversal. *State v. Hardin*, 425 S.C. at 15, 819 S.E.2d at 184.

As Appellant has conceded, he “acquiesced to the introduction of Foster’s identification.” (Br. of App. at 6; Tr. p. 145, lines 6-7). Marcus Foster testified that he knew Appellant prior to the shooting, called him to the scene that day, and stood in front of the victim’s car watching Appellant engage first as the aggressor, and then as the shooter. (Tr. p. 336, line 12 – p. 354, line 24). At trial, Foster’s eyewitness identification preceded that made by Poole, and was entirely cumulative of that made by Poole. It is important to note that Foster testified he had known Appellant for some time prior to these events, because “the fact that an identification witness knows the accused remains a significant factor in determining reliability.” *State v. Liverman*, 398 S.C. at 141, 727 S.E.2d at 427 (finding witness’s prior knowledge of the accused renders a show-up identification “merely confirmatory” rather than suggestive). Given the cumulative nature and reliability of Foster’s identification testimony, any error in the introduction of Poole’s eyewitness identification was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Hardin*, 425 S.C. at 16, 819

S.E.2d at 185 (finding eyewitness identification cumulative to other properly admitted evidence and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt).

**CONCLUSION**

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the lower court be affirmed.